# By-Laws of Corolla Light Community Association, Inc.

Corolla Light Community Association 1197 B Franklyn Street P.O. Box 490 Corolla, North Carolina 27927 Phone (252) 453-2455 Fax (252) 453-3134

#### By-Laws of Corolla Light Community Association, Inc.

### ARTICLE I MEMBERS

Section 1. Membership in the Association. The Members of the Corolla Light Community Association, Inc., (hereinafter referred to as "Association") shall be every Owner (as defined in the Covenants hereinafter described) of the property subject to the provisions of the Corolla Light PUD Subdivision Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions, (all such covenants, restrictions and affirmative obligations, as the same may be amended from time to time, are hereinafter referred to as the "Covenants"), all such Covenants having been made by Corolla Light Venture (hereinafter referred to as the "Company").

The Board of Directors of the Association may suspend, in accordance with Article IV, any person from membership in the Association during any period of time when such person is in default of any of this obligations under the By-Laws (including, without limitation, the failure to pay any assessment), provided that such default has continued incurred for a period of ten (10) days after written notice thereof to such member.

Section 2. Membership Classes. Membership classes are as defined in the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions.

# ARTICLE II MEETING OF THE MEMBERS

- Section 1. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the Members shall be held on a date to be set no later than one year after the first lot is conveyed to an entity other than the Company. Such annual meetings shall be held for the purpose of electing directors and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting.
- Section 2. Special Meeting. Special meetings of the Members may be called by the President, the Board of Directors, or subsequent to the first annual meeting, members of the Association holding not less than one-fifth (1/5) of the votes.
- Section 3. Place of Meeting. The Board of Directors may designate any location within Currituck County, North Carolina as the place for any annual meeting or special meeting, called by the Board of Directors, and the President may designate any location as the place for any special meeting called by him. If no designation is made or if a special meeting is called by the Members of the Association, the place of meeting shall be the principal office of the Association within Currituck County, North Carolina, or at other such place as the Board of Directors may designate.
- Section 4. Notice of Meeting. Written notice stating the place, day, and hour of the meeting and, in case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be mailed or delivered not less than thirty (30) days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the President or the Secretary or the personnel calling the meeting, to each member of the Association at his address as shown on the records of the Association. A Member may, in writing, signed by him, waive notice of any meeting before or after the date of the meeting stated therein.
- Section 5. Informal Action by Members. Any action required or permitted by law to be taken at a meeting of the Members of the Association may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all of the Members of the Association, which consent shall be filed with the Secretary of the Association as part of the Association records.

Section 6. Quorum Required for any Action Authorized at Regular or Special Meetings of the Association. The quorum required for any action which is subject to a vote of the Members at an open meeting of the Association (as distinguished from the Referendum) shall be as follows:

The first time a meeting of the Members of the Association is called to vote on a particular action proposed to be taken by the Association the presence at the meeting of Members or proxies entitled to cast fifty-one (51%) per cent of the total vote of the Membership shall constitute a quorum. If the required quorum is not present at any such meeting, a second meeting may be called subject to the giving of proper notice and the required quorum of such meeting shall be the presence of members or proxies entitled to cast twenty-five (25%) per cent of the total vote of the membership of the Association. In the event the required quorum is not present at the second, a third meeting may be called subject to the giving of proper notice and shall be no quorum requirement for such third meeting.

Section 7. Conduct of Meetings. The directors may make such regulations as they deem advisable for any meeting of the Members, including proof of membership in the Association, evidence of the right to vote and the appointment and duties of inspectors of votes. Such regulation shall be binding upon the Association and its Members.

Section 8. Ballots by Mail. When required by the Board of Directors, there shall be sent with notices of regular or special meetings of the Association, a statement of certain motions to be introduced for vote of the Members and a ballot on which each Member may vote for or against the motion. Each ballot which is presented at such meeting shall be counted in calculating the quorum requirements set out in Section 6 of this Article II. Provided, however, such ballots shall not be counted in determining whether a quorum is present to vote upon motions not appearing on the ballot.

# ARTICLE III DIRECTORS

Section 1. General Powers. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by its directors. The directors need not be Members of the Association.

Section 2. Number and Tenure. Initially, the number of directors shall be three (3) with the number of directors in subsequent years to be set by the Board of Directors at up to seven (7), as the directors deem appropriate. At the first annual meeting, the Members shall elect three (3) directors, one for a term of one year, one for a term of two years, and one for a term of three years. At each annual meeting thereafter, the members shall elect directors for a term of three years. Any vacancy occurring in the initial or any subsequent Board of Director may be filled at any meeting of the Board of Directors by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors, or by a sole remaining director and, if not previously filled, shall be filled at the next succeeding meeting of the Members of the Association. Any director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve as such until the expiration of the term of the directors whose position he was elected to fill. Election of directors may be conducted by mail ballot if the Board of Directors so determine.

Section 3. Annual Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the annual meeting of the Members. The Board of Directors may provide by resolution the time and place for the holding of additional repair meetings of the Board without notice.

Section 4. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the President or any two directors by giving notice thereof as provided in Section 5 of this Article III. Such persons calling a special meeting of the Board of Directors may fix any location as the place for holding such special meeting.

Section 5. Notice. When notice of any meeting of the Board of Directors is required, such notice shall be given at least ten days previous to such meeting by written notice delivered personally or sent by mail to each director at his address as shown on the records of the Association. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited postage prepaid in the United State mail in a sealed envelope properly addressed. Any director may waive notice of any meeting before or after the time of the meeting stated therein and attendance of a director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting except where a director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the board to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the board need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting, unless specifically required by law, the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws or the Covenants.

Section 6. Quorum. A majority of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board; but if less than a majority of the directors are present at said meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting without further notice.

Section 7. Manner of Acting. The act of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors.

Section 8. Compensation. Directors as such shall not receive any stated salaries for their services, but by a resolution of the Board of Directors any director may be reimbursed for his actual expenses incurred in the performance of his duties as director but nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the Association in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

Section 9. Information Action by Directors. Any action required or permitted by law to be taken at a meeting of directors may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by a majority of the directors which consent shall be filed with the secretary of the Association as part of the corporate records.

Section 10. Removal of Directors. Any director may be removed from the Board of Directors, with or without cause, by a majority vote of the members of the Association at a meeting called for such purpose. The notice of such meeting is required as stated in these documents. The vacancy thus created by such a removal shall be filled as provided in Section 2 of this Afticle III.

### ARTICLE IV POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1. Powers. The Board of Directors shall have power to:

- (a) adopt and publish rules and regulations governing the use of the Common Properties. Purchased Common Properties and the personal conduct of the members and their guests thereon, and to establish penalties for the infraction thereof;
- (b) suspend the voting rights and right to use of the recreational facilities of a member during any period in which such members shall be in default in the payment of any assessment levied by the Association. Such rights may also be suspended after notice and hearing, for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days for infraction of published rules and regulations;
- (c) exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to the Association and not reserved to the Membership by other provisions of these By-Laws, or the Covenants;
- (d) employ a manager, an independent contractor, or such other employees as they deem necessary, and then prescribe their duties.

Section 2. Duties. It shall be the duty of the Board of Directors to:

- (a) cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and Association affairs and to present a statement thereof to the Members at the annual meeting of the members, or at any special meeting when such statement is requested to writing by one-fourth (1/4) vote of all the members who are entitled to vote;
- (b) supervise all officers, agents and employees of the Association, and to see that their duties are properly performed;
- (c) as more fully provided in the Covenants; to:
  - (1) fix the amount of all assessments:
  - (2) send written notice of all assessments to every owner subject thereto;
- (3) foreclose the lien against any property for which assessments are not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date or to bring an action at law against the owner personally obligated to pay the same; and
  - (4) provide for a Board of Architectural Review, should the Developer convey said authority to this Board.
- (d) issue, or to cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any persons, a certificate setting forth whether or not any assessments has been paid. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board of the issuance of these certificates. If a certificate states an assessment has been paid, such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of such payment;
- (e) procure and maintain adequate liability and hazard insurance on property owned or leased by the Association;
- (f) cause all officers or employees having fiscal responsibilities to be bonded, as it may deem appropriate; to provide errors and omission or similar insurance for officers and members of the Board, as it may deem appropriate.
- (g) cause the Common Properties and Purchase Common Properties to be maintained or improved.

#### ARTICLE V

To the extent and in the manner provided by law, the Association may participate in mergers and consolidation with other non-profit associations organized for the same purpose, provided, however, that any such mergers or consolidation shall require approval by the vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Type A, B, C or D memberships, if any, at a meeting duly called for such purpose.

Upon merger or consolidation of the Association with another association or associations, its property rights and obligations may, by instrument of transfer or operation of law, be transferred to another surviving or consolidated association, or in the alternative, the properties, rights and obligations or another association may, by operation of law, be added to the properties of the Association as a surviving Association pursuant to a merger. The surviving or consolidated association may administer the existing property, together with the covenants and restrictions established upon any other property as one plan. No merger or consolidation shall effect any revocation, change or addition to the Covenants, including, without limitation, the maximum limits on assessments and dues of the Association, or any other matter substantially affecting the interest of Members of the Association.

#### ARTICLE VI

To the extent provided by law, the Board of Directors of the Association shall have the power and authority to mortgage the property of the Association and to pledge the revenues of the Association as security for loans made to the Association which loans shall be used by the Association in performing its authorized functions. Notwithstanding anything in the Covenants to the contrary, the Association shall not be allowed to reduce the limits of the minimum regular annual assessment at any time there are outstanding any amounts as repayment of any such loans.

#### ARTICLE VII OFFICERS

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the Association shall be a President, one or more Vice Presidents (the number thereof to be determined by the Board of Directors), a Secretary, and a Treasurer. The Board of Directors may elect such other officers, including one or more Assistant Secretaries and one or more Assistant Treasurers, as it shall deem desirable, such officers to have the authority and perform the duties prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person except the offices of President and Secretary. The President shall be a director of the Association. Other officers may be, but need not be, directors of the Association.

Section 2. Election, Term of Office and Vacancies. The officers of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at the first meeting of the Board of Directors following each annual meeting of the Members. A vacancy in any office arising because of death, resignation, removal or other wise may be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

Section 3. Removal. Any officer may be removed by the Board of Directors whenever, in its judgment, the best interest of the Association will be served thereby.

Section 4. Powers and Duties. The officers of the Association shall each have such powers and duties as generally pertain to their respective offices, as well as such powers and duties as may from time to time be specifically conferred or imposed by the Board of Directors, except as other wise determined by the Board of Directors. The President shall be chief executive officer of the Association.

Section 5. Resignation. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors, the President or the secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

### ARTICLE VIII COMMITTEES

Section 1. Committees of Directors. The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the directors in office, may designate one or more committees, each of which shall consist of two or more directors, which committees, to the extent provided in the resolution shall have and exercise the authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the affairs of the Association; provided, however, that no such committee shall have the authority of the Board of Directors as to the following matters: (a) the dissolution, merger or consolidation of the Association; the amendment of the Articles of Incorporation of the Association; or the sale, lease, or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of the Association; (b) the designation of any such committee or the filling of vacancies in the Board of Directors or in any such committee; (c) the amendment or repeal of these By-Laws or the adoption of new By-Laws; and (d) the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board of Directors which by its terms shall not be so amendable or repealable.

Section 2. Other Committees. Other committees not having and exercising the authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the affairs of the Association may be designated by a resolution adopted by a majority of directors present at a meeting of which a quorum is present. Such committees shall perform such duties and have such powers as may be provided in the resolution.

Section 3. Rules. Each committee may adopt rules of its own government not inconsistent with the terms of the resolution of the Board of Directors designating the committee or with rules adopted by the Board of Directors.

# ARTICLE IX CERTIFICATES OF MEMBERSHIP

The Board of Directors may provide for the issuance of certificates evidencing membership in the Association, which shall be in such form as may be determined by the Board. Such certificates shall be signed by the President or Vice President and by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary and shall be sealed of the Association. The name and address of each member and the date of issuance of the certificate shall become lost, mutilated, or destroyed, a new certificate may be issued therefor upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may determine.

#### ARTICLE X

The books, records and papers of the Association shall at all times be subject to inspection by any member during reasonable business hours. The Covenants and By-Laws of the Association shall be available for inspection and purchase by any member at the principal office of the Association.

### ARTICLE XI PROXIES

Section 1. Each Member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy at all meetings of the Association.

Section 2. All proxies shall be executed in writing by the member or by his duly authorized attorney-in-fact and filed with the secretary; provided, however, that proxies shall not be required for any action which is subject to a referendum in accordance with the Covenants. No proxy shall extend beyond the date of the meeting for which it is given unless such meeting is adjourned to a subsequent date and no proxy shall be valid after eleven (11) months from the date of its execution unless otherwise provided in the proxy. Any proxy shall automatically cease upon sale by the Member of his lot.

### ARTICLE XII CONSTRUCTION

In the event of a conflict between the Covenants and the By-Laws, the Covenants shall control.

# ARTICLE XIII ASSESSMENTS

As more fully provided in the Covenants, each Member is obligated to pay to the Association annual and special assessments which are secured by a continuing lien upon the property against which the assessment is made. Any assessments which are not paid when due shall be delinquent. If the assessment is not paid within thirty (30) days after the due date, the assessment shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at the maximum rate applicable by law, and the Association may bring an action at law against the Owner personally obligated to pay the same or foreclose the lien against the property, and interest, costs, and reasonable attorney's fees of any such action shall be added to the amount of such assessment. No Owner may waive or otherwise escape liability for the assessments provided for herein by nonuse of the Common Properties or abandonment of his Lot.

#### ARTICLE XIV CORPORATE SEAL

The Association hall have a seal in circular form having within its circumference the words: COROLLA LIGHT PUD Community Association, Inc., State of North Carolina, 1985.

#### ARTICLE XV AMENDMENTS

These By-Laws may be altered, amended or repealed and new By-Laws may be adopted, by the Board of Directors, at a regular or special meeting of the Board by a vote of a majority vote of all Directors, providing notice of such pending action is given in the call for said meeting.

#### ARTICLE XVI DISSOLUTION

If the Board of Directors determine that it is in the best interest of the Association, its members, and/or of the company to dissolve the Association it may call a meeting to consider such action in accordance with this document and the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Resolutions.

#### ARTICLE XVII

The association shall have the right to establish any lesser associations that it may require to provide for the operati	on of the
Association and to carry out its assigned responsibilities.	

This is to certify that the attached By-Laws were adopted by	the members and the Board of Directors	of the Corolla Light
Community Association, Inc. on	, 19	4